2000

# Kathryn Collard v. Nagle Construction, Gary M. Nagle and Marilyn F. Nagle : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by §78-2a-3(2)(j), U.C.A. This is an appeal from a final judgment of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entered November 6, 2000. Notice of Appeal was filed November 8, 2000. This case was transferred to the Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court on January 19, 2001.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### **POINT I. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT BAR NAGLE FROM RECEIVING THE PURCHASE PRICE BEFORE HE IS OBLIGATED TO CONVEY TITLE.**

1. The Court should not have considered the statute of limitations defense asserted by Collard.
2. The lower court, having determined that both parties were barred by the statute of limitations, should also have denied Collard a remedy.
3. The lower court granted Collard specific performance, an equitable remedy, without requiring that Collard do equity.

4. A counterclaim barred by the statute of limitations may still be used as an offset against plaintiff's claim for delivery of title.

5. Under the express words of the contract, payment of the purchase price is a condition precedent to delivery of title.

6. The terms of the contract are not severable, either by separating the dependent promises or by dividing the consideration into three separate parts and applying the statute of limitations separately to each.

**Standard of Review:** Review of a summary judgment is based on correctness, according no deference to the court's legal conclusions. Thompson v. Jess, 979 P.2d 322, 325 (Utah 1999). The court must accept all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party. Winegar v. Froerer, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991).

**Preservation of issue for review:** Statute of Limitations raised in Collard's Motion for Summary Judgment [R. 139], opposed by Nagle in Reply Memorandum [R. 258], raised again by Collard in Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum [R. 357], opposed again by Nagle in Defendants' Supplemental Memorandum [R. 366-371], ruled on by lower court in Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order [R. 526-528], objected by Nagle in Objections to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order [R. 426-428] and considered extensively by the court in the oral arguments [R. 644, pp. 6-8, 14-17, 21, 23-24].

**POINT II. THE CONCLUSION THAT NAGLE WAIVED ASSUMPTION OF THE MORTGAGE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS AND IS A DISPUTED MATTER OF FACT WHICH COULD NOT BE DETERMINED ON A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

**Standard of Review:** Review of a summary judgment is based on correctness, according no deference to the court's legal conclusions. Thompson v. Jess, 979 P.2d 322, 325 (Utah 1999). The court must accept all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party. Winegar v. Froerer, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991).

**Preservation of issue for review:** Raised and considered by the court in the hearing on August 30, 2000 [R. 645, pp. 7-9, 12-14, 20-22], ruled on by the lower court in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order [R. 526-528] and objected to by Nagle in Objections to Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order [R. 426-428].

**Grounds for review of any issues not preserved:** The lower court committed plain error in ruling that the statute of limitations bars recovery of the purchase price and concluding, as a matter of law, that Nagle waived the assumption requirement, and the inequity of the result in this case is an exceptional circumstance allowing the appellate court



to review these matters to assure that manifest injustice does not result from a failure to consider these matters. State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5 (Utah App. 1996).

## **DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES**

### **78-12-1. Time for commencement of actions generally.**

Civil actions may be commenced only within the periods prescribed in this chapter, after the cause of action has accrued, except in specific cases where a different limitation is prescribed by statute.

### **78-12-23. Within six years - Mesne profits of real property - Instrument in writing.**

An action may be brought within six years;

- (1) for the mesne profits of real property;
- (2) upon any contract, obligation, or liability founded upon an instrument in writing, except those mentioned in Section 78-12-22.

### **Rule 9. Pleading special matters.**

(h) Statute of limitations. In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied on, referring to or describing such statute specifically and definitely by section number, subsection designation, if any, or otherwise designating the provision relied upon sufficiently clearly to identify it. If such allegation is controverted, the party pleading the statute must establish, on the trial, the facts showing that the cause of action is so barred.

### **Rule 13. Counterclaim and cross-claim.**

(i) Cross demands not affected by assignment or death. When cross demands have existed between persons under such circumstances that, if one had brought an action against the other, a counterclaim could have been set up, the two demands shall be deemed compensated so far as they equal each other, and neither can be deprived of the benefit thereof by the assignment or death of the other, except as provided in Subdivision (j) of this rule.

---

**IN THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS**

---

KATHRYN COLLARD, TRUSTEE  
of the LeRoy Collard Trust,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

**vs.**

NAGLE CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Utah  
corporation, GARY M. NAGLE and  
MARILYN F. NAGLE, individuals,

Defendants-Appellants.

Case No. 20000976-CA

---

GARY M. NAGLE,

Counterclaim Plaintiff-  
Appellant

**vs.**

KATHRYN COLLARD, TRUSTEE  
of the LeRoy Collard Trust,

Counterclaim Defendant-  
Appellee.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case**

This is an action to enforce the terms of a Uniform Real Estate Contract between Nagle Construction, as Seller, and LeRoy Collard, as Buyer, dated March 30, 1978, for the sale of a condominium unit (hereinafter the "property"), which contract required that

the Buyer assume a mortgage loan on the property and convey to the Seller shares of stock or cash valued at \$85,000 "before seller conveys title to premises sold to buyer." The interests of the Seller were later conveyed to defendants Gary M. Nagle and Marilyn F. Nagle (hereinafter the "Nagles") and the interests of the Buyer were later conveyed to plaintiff Kathryn Collard, Trustee of the LeRoy Collard Trust, (hereinafter "Collard"). Neither Collard nor her predecessor ever assumed the mortgage on the property or conveyed to Nagle the shares or cash valued at \$85,000. LeRoy Collard, and later his son, took possession of the property and paid the monthly mortgage payments to the mortgage lender (without assuming the loan) until the time of suit. Because the shares or cash valued at \$85,000 were never conveyed to Nagles, title to the property was never conveyed to Collard.

### **Course of Proceedings**

Collard filed a complaint on July 28, 1999, alleging claims for breach of contract for failure to convey title to the property, adverse possession based on possession and payment of taxes and declaratory judgment to quiet title to the property based on an allegation that Collard had "fulfilled all of the Buyer's obligations under the Contract." Nagles filed an answer and counterclaim denying that Buyer had fulfilled its obligations under the contract, asserting defenses of failure to state a claim, waiver, estoppel and the statute of limitations of §§ 78-12-1 and 23, U.C.A. and asking in the alternative for a decree that Collard's interest in the property was forfeited, determining the amount due Nagles and for a decree of foreclosure against the property to satisfy the amount due and for a decree quieting title in Nagles. In her reply to the counterclaim Collard asserted various defenses including the statute of limitations but without referring to the statute "specifically and

definitely by section number" as required by Rule 9(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Nagles file a Motion for Summary Judgment on February 24, 2000, and Collard filed a cross Motion for Summary Judgment on March 29, 2000.

### **Disposition in the Lower Court**

After oral arguments on July 17, 2000, the lower court, without making any findings of fact, ruled that "the statute of limitations operates to preclude both sides from exercising their rights under that contract" and asked the parties to brief the question of whether the court had "the equitable power . . . to order that the title be conveyed from Nagle to Collard." After briefing and further oral arguments on August 30, 2000, the lower court admitted difficulty in resolving this "perplexing problem" but ruled in favor of Collard and requested her counsel to prepare findings and conclusions acknowledging its decision "may well be subject to some question." Findings and conclusions and an order were prepared and objected to and after a hearing on those objections, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were entered on November 6, 2000. This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. The real property involved in this action is a condominium unit located at 3842 South Quail Hollow Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah described as Lot B-24, Cove Point-Phase 1, a Planned Unit Development. [Complaint, ¶ 5; Nagle Affidavit, ¶ 1, Record 103].
2. Under date of March 30, 1978, Nagle Construction, as Seller, and LeRoy Collard, as Buyer, entered into a Uniform Real Estate Contract. [Complaint, ¶ 6; Nagle Affidavit, ¶ 2; included as Exhibit B in the Addendum].
3. Pursuant to that contract the total purchase price was \$100,500 payable \$10,000 down and the balance of \$90,500 was to be paid as follows:

Assumption by LeRoy Collard of a mortgage loan on the above described property in the principal amount of \$59,958.75 presently payable by Nagle Construction Company to First Security bank and the balance of \$30,541.26 is payable by delivery and conveyance to seller of 55,000 shares of Utah Coal and Chemical Corp. Capital stock. The stock conveyed to seller is to be free of any encumbrances, liens or restrictions on trading.

Title of said premises shall be delivered to buyer when seller has verified marketability of stock, conveyed and verified a market value sufficient to cover the unpaid balance. Such time is to be determined by seller but will not be unreasonably delayed. [Addendum #1 to contract. See Exhibit A in Addendum.]

4. On April 12, 1978, Nagle Construction conveyed the property to Gary M. Nagle. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶¶ 6 & 7, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 112].

5. LeRoy Collard took possession of the property but did not assume the mortgage. Instead, he began making the mortgage payments directly to First Security Bank. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶ 9, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 104].

6. Later, LeRoy Collard tendered to Nagle 55,000 shares of stock but Nagle determined that the value of the stock was insufficient to cover the unpaid balance of the contract. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶¶ 6 and 7, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 104].

7. LeRoy Collard told Nagle that he was sure the stock would go up in value and asked Nagle to hold off on declaring a default under the contract and further told him that he (Collard) would guarantee Nagle \$85,000 from the sale of the stock if he would hold off on exercising his default remedies. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶¶ 12 and 13, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 105].

8. In furtherance of this guarantee, the parties executed Addendum #2 to the contract which provides as follows:

Title of premises being sold under the contract referred to above will be transferred when Nagle Construction Company sells sufficient of the shares of Utah Coal and Chemical Corp. transferred under addendum #1 to realize \$85,000 cash. Seller hereby agrees to sell shares sufficient to realize \$85,000 within 1 year of receipt thereof providing the market value of said shares will cause a realization of \$85,000.

Should the value of the 55,000 shares conveyed not equal \$85,000 within 1 year, buyer agrees to convey additional shares of Utah Coal and Chemical Corp. stock or cash sufficient to bring the total value conveyed to seller to \$85,000 before seller conveys title to premises sold to buyer. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶¶ 14-17; Addendum, Exh. B; R. 105].

9. The value of the stock was never such that \$85,000 could be realized from the sale of the stock. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶ 18, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 106]. In fact, the value of the stock during this time period ranged from a high of 1 3/8 to a low of \$.05, never enough to realize \$85,000. [R. 256, 287-88].

10. LeRoy Collard never did tender stock or cash sufficient to realize the \$85,000. [Nagle Affidavit, ¶¶ 18-21, Addendum, Exh. B; R. 106].

11. Demand was made upon LeRoy Collard to deliver sufficient stock or the \$85,000 [R. 11-12] but he failed to do so.

12. LeRoy Collard, however, continued to pay the mortgage payments to First Security Bank leaving a balance due there of approximately \$30,000 at the time this suit was filed. [Counterclaim, ¶ 27; R. 32].

13. LeRoy Collard conveyed his interest in the property to Collard on January 3, 1997, and died on February 8, 1997. [Complaint, ¶¶ 15 and 19; R. 3].

14. Collard filed a complaint on July 28, 1999, alleging claims for breach of contract for failure to convey title to the property, adverse possession based on possession

and payment of taxes and declaratory judgment to quiet title to the property based on an allegation that Collard had "fulfilled all of the Buyer's obligations under the Contract." [R. 1-6].

15. Nagles filed an answer and counterclaim denying that Buyer had fulfilled its obligations under the contract, asserting defenses of failure to state a claim, waiver, estoppel and the statute of limitations of §§ 78-12-1 and 23, U.C.A. and asking in the alternative for a decree that Collard's interest in the property was forfeited, determining the amount due Nagles and for a decree of foreclosure against the property to satisfy the amount due and for a decree quieting title in Nagles. [R. 24-38].

16. In her reply to the counterclaim Collard asserted various defenses including the statute of limitations but without referring to the statute "specifically and definitely by section number" as required by Rule 9(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. [R. 46-54].

17. Nagles file a Motion for Summary Judgment on February 24, 2000, [R. 84-85] and Collard filed a cross Motion for Summary Judgment on March 29, 2000. [R. 181-82].

18. After oral arguments on July 17, 2000, the lower court, without making any findings of fact, ruled that "the statute of limitations operates to preclude both sides from exercising their rights under that contract" and asked the parties to brief the question of whether the court had "the equitable power . . . to order that the title be conveyed from Nagle to Collard." [Transcript of Hearing on July 17, 2000, R. 644, p. 24, lines 8-13, Addendum, Exh. C].

19. After briefing and further oral arguments on August 30, 2000, the lower court admitted difficulty in resolving this "perplexing problem" but ruled in favor of Collard

and requested her counsel to prepare findings and conclusions acknowledging its decision "may well be subject to some question." [Transcript of Hearing on August 30, 2000, R. 645, pp. 25-6, lines 1, 14-15, 19-20; Addendum, Exh. D].

20. Counsel for Collard prepared some one-sided Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order which [See Addendum, Exh. E]:

(a) Attempted to sever the contract into three separate contracts or installments [See Finding #3];

(b) Failed to find that the contract had been amended by the addition of Addendum #2 to the contract requiring the payment of \$85,000 in value and not \$30,541.26 [See Addendum, Exh. A, Addendum #2];

(c) Attempted to show that the 55,000 shares of stock could have been sold for \$85,000 by submitting alleged brokerage information from a period of time (January-March, 1979) prior to the time the stock was delivered (September, 1979) [R. 257] [See Finding #14];

(d) Failed to include a finding or conclusion, as stated by the lower court [See ¶ 18, above], that the statute of limitations also barred Collard from enforcing the contract, based on her claim that she had performed all obligations under the contract in 1981 and knew that title had not been conveyed since at least 1986;

(e) Made a conclusion that Nagle waived the requirement that Collard assume the mortgage at First Security Bank (See Conclusion #8) without any finding of fact to support it and without any evidence before the court upon which such a finding could be based.



21. Nagles objected to the proposed findings, conclusions and order and, after a hearing on those objections, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were entered on November 6, 2000. [Addendum, Exh. E].

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT BAR NAGLE FROM RECEIVING THE PURCHASE PRICE BEFORE HE IS OBLIGATED TO CONVEY TITLE.**

##### **1. The Court should not have considered the statute of limitations defense asserted by Collard.**

Rule 9(h), U.R.C.P., requires that the statute of limitations be referred to in pleadings specifically and definitely by section number. Collard failed to do so and the cases hold that such failure bars the court from considering the statute. The lower court erred in holding that the inadequately pled statute applied in this case.

##### **2. The lower court, having determined that both parties were barred by the statute of limitations, should also have denied Collard a remedy.**

The lower court concluded that the statute of limitations barred both parties from pursuing their claims yet, inconsistently, allowed Collard a remedy while denying Nagle a remedy. That conclusion requires either that both parties be denied a remedy or that equity provide a remedy that is fair to both sides. The court erred in failing to do so.

##### **3. The lower court granted Collard specific performance, an equitable remedy, without requiring that Collard do equity.**

Because the lower court concluded that the statute of limitations barred both parties, it searched for an equitable remedy that would allow it to order title to be delivered to Collard. Its order required that Nagle specifically perform the contract by delivering title to Collard. Specific performance is an equitable remedy but it requires that equity be done

by the party receiving it. That would require Collard to pay the purchase price. The lower court erred in failing to order Collard to do equity in return for equity by paying the purchase price.

**4. A counterclaim barred by the statute of limitations may still be used as an offset against plaintiff's claim for delivery of title.**

There is a long history of cases which hold that a counterclaim which might otherwise be barred by the statute of limitations can still be asserted as an offset against the claim. This rule is obviously intended to avoid the inequity of allowing one party a remedy and denying a remedy to the other party when the claims arise out of the same transaction. That is exactly the case here where Collard is allowed to obtain title without requiring her to pay the purchase price for the property. The lower court erred in failing to require payment of the purchase price as an offset against the claim for title.

**5. Under the express words of the contract, payment of the purchase price is a condition precedent to delivery of title.**

The contract in this case expressly provided that the purchase price was to be paid before Nagle was required to convey title. Thus, payment of the purchase price was a condition precedent to conveyance of title. The law requires that the condition precedent be performed before the duty to convey title arises. The promise to convey title is dependent upon the promise to pay the purchase price. It was error for the lower court to separate one promise from the other. A condition precedent must precede. In this case it did not.

**6. The terms of the contract are not severable, either by separating the dependent promises or by dividing the consideration into three separate parts and applying the statute of limitations separately to each.**

The contract in this case is not severable. It required delivery of title only in return for payment of the purchase price. Those dependent promises could not be severed nor could the payment of the purchase price be severed into parts for the purpose of barring payment of a portion thereof. To sever this contract would destroy its entire purpose, that is payment of the purchase price before title is to be delivered. The lower court erred in severing the dependent promises in this contract.

**POINT II. THE CONCLUSION THAT NAGLE WAIVED ASSUMPTION OF THE MORTGAGE IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE FINDINGS AND IS A DISPUTED MATTER OF FACT WHICH COULD NOT BE DETERMINED ON A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

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