2000

Kathryn Collard v. Nagle Construction, Gary M. Nagle and Marilyn F. Nagle : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Contrary to the Nagles' argument, the lower court correctly considered Plaintiff Collard's statute of limitations defense to the Nagles' counterclaims because the Nagles never raised the argument that the defense was insufficiently pleaded in the lower court;

because the defense was adequately pleaded; because it was the only statute of limitations that could apply, and because the Nagles' had waived any objection to Plaintiff Collard's assertion of this defense by fully briefing and arguing the applicability of the defense to both parties claims in the lower court.

The Nagles' argument that their counterclaim for additional stock or cash, although barred by the statute of limitations, may still be used as an offset, fails as a matter of law because the parties' claims never coexisted, and the Nagles' attempt to circumvent the lower court's ruling dismissing their claims by asserting new affirmative defenses for the first time on appeal, is without merit and furnishes no ground for the reversal of the lower court's decision.

Finally, the lower court's decision not to award Plaintiff Collard the attorney's fees and costs incurred in the prosecution of this action and in this appeal, is incorrect and should be reversed because Plaintiff Collard prevailed on her preeminent quiet title claim and also prevailed on the Defendant Nagles' counterclaims. The parties' Contract provided for the payment of fees and costs to the party having to bring a legal action to enforce their rights under the Contract against the defaulting party. Here, the Nagles defaulted by refusing to deliver title to Plaintiff Collard when Plaintiff attempted to pay off the FSB obligation, thereby precipitating the filing of this action. The Nagles acknowledged the applicability of the fees and costs provision of the parties' Contract by pleading it in their *Answer and Counterclaim*, thus estopping the Nagles from claiming that Plaintiff Collard is not entitled to receive attorney's fees and costs under the provisions of the parties' Contract.

ARGUMENT

POINT I THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY QUIETED TITLE IN THE PLAINTIFF TRUST AND DID NOT ERR IN CONSIDERING PLAINTIFF COLLARD'S DEFENSES TO THE NAGLES' COUNTERCLAIMS

Based upon its *Findings of Fact*, none of which are challenged in this appeal, Aplt. Br. *passim*, the lower court correctly concluded that Plaintiff Collard's decedent, LeRoy Collard, had performed all of the actions or "Installments" required for his receipt of the title to the Property from the Nagles under the parties' Contract, and/or that the Nagles' right to demand such performance had been modified or waived by their own inaction, and/or was barred by the statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, such that Plaintiff Collard had a legal right to have title to the Property quieted in the Plaintiff Trust as soon as Plaintiff Collard tendered payment of the balance owing on the Nagles' mortgage loan from FSB ("the FSB Obligation"). *See, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law And Order*, R. 521-531.

Although the Nagles now complain that "the decision of the lower court in this case has effectively given the property to Collard without payment of the full purchase price", Aplt. Br. 10-12, Defendant Gary Nagle admitted in his deposition that he believed that Mr. Collard had breached the parties' Contract by failing to tender the full purchase price on or before January 25, 1981, but that neither he nor his attorneys ever took any affirmative legal action to forfeit or foreclose on the Property even after giving notice of the alleged breaches to Mr. Collard on January 13, 1981, and that the Nagles kept the

down payment and stock tendered by Mr. Collard and accepted his mode of paying off the Nagles' mortgage obligation to First Security Bank for over twenty years. *See, Statement of Facts*, ¶¶21-24, 28, *supra* at 10-11.

Based upon Defendant Nagles' own admissions, the lower court properly found and concluded that the Nagles' acceptance of Collard's direct payments to FSB for more than twenty years and Nagles' failure to take any legal action on the alleged breach and default of Installment No.2, after declaring it in the letter of January 13, 1981, until filing the *Answer and Counterclaim* in this matter in September of 1999, either modified the parties' contract to permit Collard to perform Installment 2 by direct payments and/or waived the Nagles' right to declare a breach or default of the Contract based on Collard's direct payment of the FSB Obligation. *See, FFCL*, Findings of Fact, Nos. 2, 8, 9, 12, 16, 19, 21, 22 and Conclusions of Law, Nos. 4,5, 8, R.522-527.

By knowingly failing to pursue their alleged claims against Plaintiff Collard's decedent for his alleged breaches of the parties' Contract for over two decades until Plaintiff Collard filed this action in July, 1999, the Nagles' right to adjudicate disputed issues of fact regarding the alleged breaches and their claims regarding the alleged breaches, have been waived or barred by the statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended. This result is purely the effect of the Nagles' inaction and is not attributable to any unfair decision of the lower court as the Nagles seek to portray. Aplt. Br. 10-12. Thus, the Nagles' argument on this point furnishes no basis for the reversal of the lower court's decision and the decision should be affirmed.

A. The Nagles Have Waived Any Argument That The Lower Court Erred In Considering The Plaintiff's Statute Of Limitations Defense To Their Counterclaims

The Nagles first argue that the lower court erred in considering Plaintiff Collard's statute of limitations defense in reference to Nagles' counterclaims for forfeiture, foreclosure and to quiet title, because Collard did not plead the applicable statute of limitations by section number. Aplt. Br. 8, 12-13. This argument fails for several reasons: **First**, the Nagles had already specifically pleaded the applicable statute of limitations by section number in their *Answer And Counterclaim*, R.59. Because Plaintiff Collard did not deny that the statute of limitations cited by the Nagles was applicable to the parties' claims, Plaintiff simply referred to it as the "applicable statutes of limitation" in Plaintiff's *Reply To Counterclaim*, R.52. **Second**, no other statute of limitations could apply to the parties' claims in this case. Thus, this case is immediately distinguishable from *Wasatch Mines Co. v. Hopkinson*, 24 U.2d 70, 465 P.2d 1007 (Utah 1970), *cited* Aplt. Br. 12, in which the Utah Supreme Court declined to consider arguments regarding a statute of limitations that was never pleaded in reference to a cause of action for fraud that was never pleaded. **Third**, the Nagles never raised this argument in the lower court and cannot raise it for the first time on appeal, and in any event, no one could have been misled. *Attorney Gen. v. Pomeroy*, 93 Utah 426, 73 P.2d 1277, 114 A.L.R. 726 (1937). **Fourth**, the Nagles waived this argument on appeal by fully briefing and arguing the application of the cited statute of limitations to both parties' claims in the court below, thereby consenting to its adjudication in the lower court. *See, e.g., Clark v. Second Circuit Court*, 741 P.2d 956, 957 (Utah 1987) (issues deemed tried by consent of the parties); *Industrial Indemnity Co. v. Wick Constr. Co.*, 680 P.2d 1100, 1103 n. 1 (Alaska 1984) (findings and

conclusions demonstrate the issues were litigated); *Quillin v. Heston Corp.*, 230 Kan. 591, 640 P.2d 1195, 1196 (1982) (issue was considered by trial court even though not specifically raised by the parties). Thus, the lower court correctly rules that the Nagles' counterclaims were all waived and/or barred by the six year statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended.

B. The Lower Court Did Not Finally Determine That Both Parties' Claims Were Barred By The Statute Of Limitations

Although the Nagles complain that the lower court "found that the statute of limitations barred both parties from pursuing their claims", Aplt. Br. 8, 12-14, the lower court modified this ruling after the second oral argument on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment which further clarified the differing positions and claims of the parties. *See, Transcript of Hearing, August 30, 2001*, R. 646, p.15, lines 9-17, p.16, lines 4-19; *FFCL, Conclusions of Law*, ¶¶14-15, R.528. Thus, the ruling does not appear in the Court's final *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law And Order*, as the Nagles concede. *Id.* Although the Nagles imply that the lower court was not free to depart from its initial ruling, *Id.*, this argument is incorrect. The lower court had the right to modify this interlocutory ruling at any time prior to the issuance of judgment. *Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies*, 884 P.2d 1306, 1310-1311 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994); *Timm v. Dewsnup*, 851 P.2d 1178, 1184-1185 (Utah 1993); and *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc.*, 761 P.2d 42 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Here, the lower court correctly held that Plaintiff Collard's right to quiet title did not fully accrue until the outstanding balance due on the FSB obligation was paid. For this reason, the six year statute of limitations applicable to claims founded on a written instrument contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, and asserted as an

affirmative defense to Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim, could not have barred the claim before it even accrued. *See*, "Statement of Facts", ¶¶ 7, 25, *supra* at 7,11.

C. Those In Actual Possession Of Real Estate Are Not Barred From Seeking To Quiet Title By Any Statute of Limitations

Alternatively, the six year statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, did not preclude Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim because the statute of limitations does not run against a party in possession of real property seeking to quiet title under Utah law. Here, it is undisputed that Plaintiff Collard and/or his heirs, continuously possessed the subject Property from the date of its purchase until and after the filing of this action. *See*, "Statement of Facts", ¶25, *supra* at 11.

In *Conder v. Hunt*, 2000 Ut. App. 105, 1 P.3d 170 (2000), decided after the parties' cross motions for summary judgment were briefed, the Utah Court of Appeals held that Utah "recognizes the general rule that those in actual possession of real estate are never barred by any statute of limitation from seeking to quiet their title," *citing Riddick v. Street*, 858 S.W.2d 63,64 (Ark. 1993); *Muktarian v. Barmby*, 407 P.2d 659, 660-61 (Cal. 1965); *Ankoanda v. Walker-Smith*, 52 Cal. Rptr. 2d 39, 42-43 (Cal Ct. App.), *review denied*, 1996 Cal. LEXIS 3695 (1996); *Peterson v. Hopkins*, 684 P.2d 1061, 1065 (Mont. 1984); *Viersen v. Boettcher*, 387 P.2d 133, 138 (Okla. 1963). *See also*, 65 Am. Jur. 2d, Quieting Title, Section 55 (1972). In *Conder*, the Court also observes that "while no Utah case cited by the parties specifically adopts this rule, a number of cases seem to assume that Utah adheres to it." *See, e.g., Rodgers v. Hansen*, 580 P.2d 233, 235 (Utah 1978); *Davidson v. Salt Lake City*, 95 Utah 347, 352-53, 81 P.2d 374, 376-77 (1938).

Thus, under *Conder*, the six year statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A.(1953), as amended, asserted by the Nagles, did not bar Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim as a matter of law because Mr. Collard and/or his heirs were in continuous possession of the Property. For this additional reason, the lower court's decision quieting title to the Property in the Plaintiff Trust and rejecting the Nagles' statute of limitations defense to Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim, should be affirmed.

Although the trial court did not rely on *Conder* in ruling that Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim was not barred by the statute of limitations, this Court may affirm the trial court's judgment on any ground, even one not relied upon by the district court.

Hall v. Utah State Dept. of Corr., 2001 UT 34, ___ P.3d ___, citing, *Cache County v. Property Tax Div.*, 922 P.2d 758, 764 (Utah 1996); *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 241 (Utah 1993); *Hill v. Seattle First Nat'l Bank*, 827 P.2d 241, 246 (Utah 1992).

D. The Lower Court Correctly Held That The Nagles' Counterclaims Failed As A Matter Of Law Or Were Otherwise Barred By The Statute of Limitations Contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), As Amended

The Nagles' arguments that the lower court erred and acted "inconsistently" by affording the Plaintiff Trust a remedy on its quiet title claim, while holding that Nagles' counterclaims were barred by the six year statute of limitations contained in §78-12-23, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, Aplt. App. 8-9, 12-13, are erroneous and ignore the crucial distinctions between the positions of the parties and the status of their claims: First, as explained above, Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim had not accrued, whereas Nagles' counterclaims had accrued not later than January 25, 1981. Second, Mr. Collard and his successors continuously possessed the Property while the Nagles did not. Thus, for the

legal reasons explained above, the lower court correctly ruled that the statute of limitations did not bar Plaintiff Collard's quiet title claim because it had not accrued, while it did bar the Nagles' counterclaims which had accrued and/or had been waived long ago. Thus, the lower court's application of the statute of limitations was correct as a matter of law and was not the result of any alleged inequity on the part of the lower court as the Nagles suggest. Aplt. Br. 8-9; 12-14.

E. The Nagles' Argument That Their Counterclaim For Additional Stock Or Cash May Still Be Used As An Offset Fails Because The Parties' Claims Never Coexisted

Unlike the parties in the cases cited by the Nagles, Aplt. Br. 15-16, the Nagles never pleaded "offset" as an affirmative defense in their *Answer and Counterclaim*, thereby waiving this affirmative defense under U.R.C.P.12(h) by failing to plead it. R.24-28. Moreover, the Nagles never asserted this defense in the lower court. Having failed to do so, the Nagles have waived this defense and cannot raise it for the first time on appeal.

Moreover, although Utah law does allow otherwise time-barred claims to be raised as an offset, the claims may only be offset "if they coexisted." *See, Coulon v. Coulon*, 915 P.2d 1069, 1072 (Utah 1996), *citing Salt Lake City v. Teluride Power Co.*, 17 P.2d 281, 286 (Utah 1932), cited Aplt. Br. 15-16. Under the undisputed facts of this case, Nagles' "offset" argument fails because the parties' claims at no time coexisted.

The cross-demands must coexist; that is they must subsist in such a way that if one party had brought suit on his demand the other could have set up the demand he held against that of the plaintiff. There must be an overlapping of live demands in point of time. If the demand of one party becomes barred and is not subsisting as a cause of action when the demand of the other party comes into existence, the former demand is not available.

See, United Pacific Insurance Company v. Knudsen Construction, Inc., Case No. 2:97CV235C, (D. Utah, May 6, 2001), at 6, *quoting Teluride*, 17 P.2d at 285, *quoting, O'Neil v. Eppler*, 162 P. 311, 312, **Addendum A** hereto.

As discussed above, the statute of limitations on Nagles' counterclaims for forfeiture, foreclosure and quiet title, ran not later than January 25, 1987, six years after the Nagles' attorney notified Mr. Collard of the alleged breach and default alleged in their *Answer and Counterclaim* in September, 1999. However, Plaintiff Collard's quiet title did not fully accrue until Collard paid the outstanding balance on the Nagles' obligation to First Security Bank after the filing of this action. Thus, the parties' claims never "coexisted" and the Nagles' claim for "offset" fails as a matter of law.

POINT II THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE NAGLES' COUNTERCLAIMS FAILED AS A MATTER OF LAW OR WERE OTHERWISE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

A. The Lower Court Correctly Ruled That The Nagles' Counterclaims For Forfeiture, Foreclosure And Quiet Title Failed As A Matter of Law

It is undisputed and the lower court found that under Addendum No. 2 to the parties' Contract, executed on or about September 18, 1979, Mr. Collard agreed that if the value of the 55,000 shares of stock he had delivered to Nagles did not reach a value of at least \$85,000 within 1 year, Collard would tender additional shares or cash to make up the difference. On January 13, 1981, several months after the expiration of the 1 year period specified in Addendum No. 2, attorneys for the Nagles wrote a letter to Mr. Collard alleging Mr. Collard had breached the Contract, specifically the requirements of Installment 3, as amended by Addendum No. 2. The letter declared that Collard's failure

to tender additional stock or cash to satisfy the requirements of Installment 3, as amended by Addendum No. 2, prior to January 25, 1981, would be "deemed by Nagle Construction to be a default thereunder and will result in the institution of legal proceedings against you for foreclosure of the contract as a note and mortgage."

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